RECEIVED

Jun 18 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lancaster County

Honorable Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JENNIFER BLAIR MCNAUGHTON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2025-001041

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SARAH E. SHIPE
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court erred in denying Ms. McNaughton's motion to suppress drug evidence found during the warrantless search of her truck in violation of the Fourth Amendment where no exceptions applied because the officers lacked reasonable suspicion to prolong the traffic stop for a minor traffic violation and where Ms. McNaughton's consent to search was not voluntary because she was surrounded by four narcotics officers in the dark?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 21, 2022, a Lancaster County grand jury indicted Jennifer Blair McNaughton for trafficking more than ten grams but less than twenty-eight grams of methamphetamine. Indictments. On May 19, 2025, Ms. McNaughton's case was called to trial before the Honorable Donald B. Hocker, and a jury. R. 1. William Frick represented Ms. McNaughton. R. 1. Julian Cuthbertson and Kaitlyn Easler prosecuted for the state. R. 1.

The jury found Ms. McNaughton guilty as indicted. R. 239, ll. 8-14. Judge Hocker sentenced Ms. McNaughton to three and half years' imprisonment. R. 253, ll. 1-5.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In *State v. Frasier*, the South Carolina Supreme Court clarified its standard of review for cases involving an appeal from a motion to suppress based on Fourth Amendment grounds. 437 S.C. 625, 879 S.E.2d 762 (2022). In *Frasier* the Court explained due to the “dawn of the technological age, appellate courts are no longer dependent on the trial court” when the appellate court reviews the evidence. *Id.*, at 633–34, 879 S.E.2d at 766. Accordingly, the Court held “appellate review of a motion to suppress based on the Fourth Amendment involves a two-step analysis. *Id.* This dual inquiry means [the appellate court] review[s] the trial court’s factual findings for any evidentiary support, but the ultimate legal conclusion ... is a question of law subject to de novo review.” *Id.*

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred denying Ms. McNaughton's motion to suppress drug evidence found during the warrantless search of her truck in violation of the Fourth Amendment where no exceptions applied because the officers lacked reasonable suspicion to prolong the traffic stop for a minor traffic violation and where Ms. McNaughton's consent to search was not voluntary because she was surrounded by four narcotics officers in the dark.

Introductory facts

On the evening of January 5, 2022, Preston Davis, investigator for the Lancaster County Drug Task Force was surveilling the home of Charles Outen pursuant to a Crime Stoppers tip alleging Mr. Outen was selling drugs out of his home. R. 18, ll. 7-16; 111, ll. 2-19. At some point during his surveillance a green Dodge truck left the driveway. R. 18, l. 18—19, l. 9. Officer Davis noticed one of the three brake lights on the truck was not working and he conducted a traffic stop. R. 19, ll. 14-20. Jennifer Blair McNaughton was driving the truck and during the stop she was removed from the truck, and her truck was searched. R. 20, l. 23—21, l. 2; 22, ll. 11-25. The search revealed a quantity of methamphetamine. R. 255.

Motion to suppress drug evidence

Prior to trial, defense counsel moved to suppress drug evidence found during the search of Ms. McNaughton's truck. R. 6, ll. 6-10. The solicitor called Preston Davis, the officer that stopped Ms. McNaughton, to testify regarding the traffic stop and subsequent warrantless search. R. 16-43. Davis worked as an investigator for the drug task force team. R. 17, ll. 1-7. Davis testified they received a Crime Stoppers tip that Charlie Outen was selling narcotics from his home, and the drug task force began surveilling the home. R. 17, ll. 8-22; 18, ll. 10-21.

Davis testified a green Dodge truck drove away from the location and he quickly noticed

the brake light on the cab was not working. R. 19, ll. 7-18. Davis activated his blue lights. He testified the truck “jumped over the sidewalk, down into the parking lot, making an [evasive]”¹ move into the parking lot as if they were trying to avoid me.” R. 19, l. 19—20, l. 7. He explained the truck “traveled over the sidewalk, down to - - a real abrupt turn into the parking lot, over the sidewalk instead of using the driveways.” R. 20, ll. 10-12. Davis claimed this type of driving made him believe the car was trying to “evade” him or “they had some type of contraband, guns, narcotics, that they were trying to conceal.” R. 20, ll. 13-16. He did not have a dash camera because he was driving an unmarked car. R. 26, ll. 16-22. There were four unmarked police cars and three additional narcotics officers on the scene during the traffic stop, including Lockhart, Hammond, and Williamson. R. 21, ll. 5-11; 22, ll. 20-22; 26, ll. 2-20.

Davis activated his body-worn camera when he approached the truck. Court’s exhibit 1 (clipped (02)) Inv. Preston Davis.² He asked the driver why she jumped the curb, and she responded that she was nervous because of the presence of law enforcement. R. 20, ll. 17-22. Davis asked the driver to step out of the truck for “officer safety” because he could not see into the vehicle due to its height and because of the evasive driving maneuvers. R. 20, l. 25—21, l. 4.

He described the driver’s demeanor as “obviously nervous . . . even stat[ing] that she was nervous. R. 21, ll. 16-18. Davis asked for her license, which she did not have. She told Davis her name was “Blair McNaughton.” R. 21, l. 25—22, l. 2. When he requested something that had her name on it, she gave him a card with the name Jennifer McNaughton. R. 22, ll. 1-10.

¹ The transcript reflects Davis said “abrasive,” counsel for Ms. McNaughton contends this is a typo made throughout the transcript and Davis actually said “evasive.” R. 20, l. 6; 21, l. 3; 41, l. 5.

² Court’s exhibit 1 is a flash drive containing video from the body-worn cameras of Davis, Hammond, and Lockhart. When referencing the videos in the brief counsel will denote which officer’s body-worn camera (BWC) video is being cited.

Davis admitted he did not see anything suspicious in “plain sight.” R. 32, ll. 19-25. Davis stated that he asked for consent to search her truck, and she gave consent. R. 22, ll. 11-16. Davis elaborated that Ms. McNaughton’s exact response was, “I don’t want you to, but you can.” R. 23, ll. 3-13. Defense counsel asked Davis if he continued to pressure Ms. McNaughton after she said she did not want them to search her truck. Davis testified that he did not remember the exact conversation but stated, “I could have.” R. 33, ll. 1-19. He said Investigator Hammond began searching and told him he found narcotics inside the truck. R. 22, ll. 20-22. Davis testified the entire stop took five to ten minutes total. R. 24, ll. 1-4.

The court questioned Davis regarding the stop. R. 38-41. The court asked Davis specifically what he believed established reasonable suspicion of criminal activity during the stop. Davis stated the prior tip, the evasive driving, and Ms. McNaughton’s nervous demeanor. Davis further elaborated on Ms. McNaughton’s nervous behavior stating, “I’ve done hundreds of traffic stops and it was a different nervous than a normal nervous for a traffic stop.” He said that when he asked her if she had anything illegal in her truck she looked at the truck and back at him and based on his experience when people look around like that they are looking directly at the contraband. R. 41, ll. 16-23.

Davis’s body-worn camera video reflects that when questioned about her name Ms. McNaughton explained she is called by her middle name Blair. Court’s exhibit 1 Davis BWC at 1:42. The video shows one of the officers already peering into the car with a flashlight while Ms. McNaughton is speaking with two other officers. Court’s exhibit 1 Davis BWC at 2:37. Contrary to Davis’s testimony that Ms. McNaughton was nervously glancing at the truck when asked if she had anything illegal the video clearly shows she looked directly at the officer who asked the question. Court’s exhibit 1 Davis BWC at 4:13. Ms. McNaughton gets a bit flustered when Davis

pressed her again about searching her truck and it appears she felt unhappy but acquiesced. Court's exhibit 1 Davis BWC at 4:16.

In support of the motion defense counsel argued officers prolonged the traffic stop without reasonable suspicion and that Ms. McNaughton's consent was not voluntary. R. 85-89. Defense counsel asserted that aside from Ms. McNaughton being nervous the officer had no other articulable suspicion that there was criminal activity afoot. Counsel argued pursuant to *Frasier*,³ nervousness alone was insufficient. Counsel further analogized this case with *Frasier* and stated this was a drug stop masquerading as a traffic stop. R. 85-88. Regarding consent counsel averred Ms. McNaughton had first said "I'd rather you not" and complied after further pressure. R. 88-89.

The solicitor conceded the stop was prolonged stating, "the prolonged stop was justified." R. 90, ll. 3-4. They relied on *State v. Corley*⁴ to support their assertion that there was reasonable suspicion in this case. R. 90, ll. 5-17. The solicitor further contended that because Ms. McNaughton was seen leaving a known drug house and "attempted to flee" the officers had reasonable suspicion that criminal activity was going on. R. 90, l. 16—91, l. 8. Then the solicitor walked it back and claimed the stop was not prolonged in any way but if it was then it was justified because of Ms. McNaughton's driving. R. 91, ll. 9-16. Regarding consent the solicitor argued that the totality of the circumstances supported finding Ms. McNaughton's consent voluntary. R. 92, l. 2—93, l. 13.

The court declared it was a "close case" but ultimately denied defense motion to suppress the drug evidence. R. 95-97. The court reasoned the case differed from *Frasier* because of the

³ *State v. Frasier*, 437 S.C. 625, 879 S.E.2d 762 (2022).

⁴ *State v. Corley*, 392 S.C. 125, 708 S.E.2d 217 (2011).

surveillance of the known drug house stating, “without that, then I think defense motion to suppress would be a whole lot stronger.” R. 95, l. 21—96, l. 4. The court found there was reasonable suspicion of criminal activity to justify prolonging the initial stop. R. 96, ll. 22-24. Concerning consent to search the court found it was voluntarily made and there was no force or coercion. R. 97, ll. 1-24.

Discussion

Neither Davis’s testimony nor the body-worn camera videos of the traffic stop support finding the officers had reasonable suspicion of criminal activity sufficient to prolong the traffic stop and considering the totality of the circumstances Ms. McNaughton’s reluctant compliance to a search of her truck was not voluntary consent.

“A person has been seized within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment at the point in time when, in light of all the circumstances surrounding an incident, a reasonable person would have believed that he was not free to leave.” *Robinson v. State*, 407 S.C. 169, 181, 754 S.E.2d 862, 868 (2014). Once police pull over a motor vehicle for a traffic violation, “the police may order the driver to exit the vehicle without violating Fourth Amendment proscriptions on unreasonable searches and seizures.” *State v. Pichardo*, 367 S.C. 84, 98, 623 S.E.2d 840, 847 (Ct. App. 2005) (citing *Pennsylvania v. Mimms*, 434 U.S. 106 (1977)). “In carrying out the stop, an officer may request a driver’s license and vehicle registration, run a computer check, and issue a citation.” *Id.* (citing *United States v. Sullivan*, 138 F.3d 126 (4th Cir. 1998)).

To prolong or exceed the scope of a stop beyond the initial traffic violation, law enforcement must have reasonable suspicion that criminal activity is occurring. *Robinson*, 407 S.C. at 182, 754 S.E.2d at 868-69 (“If, during the stop of the vehicle, the officer’s suspicions are confirmed or further aroused—even if for a different reason than he initiated the stop—the stop

may be prolonged, and the scope of the detention enlarged as circumstances require.”). While reasonable suspicion is not susceptible to a rigid, formulaic approach, it requires more than a mere hunch or unparticularized suspicion. *Id.* at 182, 754 S.E.2d at 868. For an officer to have reasonable suspicion, “there [must] be an objective, specific basis for suspecting the person stopped of criminal activity.” *Id.* Although reasonable suspicion is not a high bar and “is a less demanding standard than probable cause and requires a showing considerably less than preponderance of the evidence, the Fourth Amendment requires at least a minimal level of objective justification for making the stop.” *Illinois v. Wardlow*, 528 U.S. 119 (2000). This inquiry involves the totality of the circumstances, and “[c]ourts must give due weight to common sense judgments reached by officers in light of their experience and training.” *State v. Moore*, 415 S.C. 245, 252-53, 781 S.E.2d 897, 901 (2016).

Here, everyone agreed the stop was prolonged. The solicitor initially conceded the stop was prolonged and the court in its ruling found “reasonable suspicion to prolong the traffic stop.” R. 95, ll. 11-13; 97, ll. 20-21.

In *Frasier* the South Carolina Supreme Court held the police officer lacked reasonable suspicion to further detain the defendant after the initial traffic stop and the defendant did not voluntarily consent to the search of his person. *State v. Frasier*, 437 S.C. 625, 879 S.E.2d 762 (2022). In that case, two plainclothes officers were observing a bus station as part of the department’s narcotics division. *Id.* at 629, 879 S.E.2d at 764. They saw a man, Frasier, leave the station and look both ways before walking to a car driven by a woman. *Id.* When the car left the station, the officers noted that one of the brake lights was not working and called a patrol officer to conduct a traffic stop of the car. *Id.*

The officer that stopped the car testified when he initiated the stop the driver took longer

than usual to pull over and when he arrived at the car her pant zipper was down. *Id.* The officer testified the zipper being down suggested she was potentially hiding contraband in her pants. *Id.* He also testified Frasier was nervous and was sweating profusely. *Id.* at 630, 879 S.E.2d at 764. Frasier was removed from the car and searched. *Id.* Frasier filed motion to suppress contending the officer lacked reasonable suspicion to prolong the stop and that he did not consent to a search of his person. *Id.* at 630, 879 S.E.2d 765. The motion to suppress was denied but reversed by the Court. *Id.* at 631, 879 S.E.2d 765.

In *State v. Moore*, the Court came to the opposite conclusion, finding the officer had reasonable suspicion to further detain defendant after the initial traffic stop. 415 S.C. 245, 781 S.E.2d 897 (2016). In that case, the Court found the totality of factors supported the trial court's finding that the officer had reasonable suspicion to prolong the stop where in addition to Moore's nervousness, Moore had a large sum of money in his pocket and Moore had an unusual itinerary. *Id.* at 253-255, 781 S.E.2d at 901-902.

Davis testified Ms. McNaughton's driving was evasive because she jumped a curb while pulling over into a parking lot. Davis confronted her with this immediately when he approached her truck at the beginning of the stop. Ms. McNaughton explained she thought it was a driveway and that she was nervous because of the blue lights. Ms. McNaughton's nerves were reasonable under the circumstances. Because the officers were driving unmarked cars, the blue lights likely startled Ms. McNaughton, who was leaving to run an errand and appeared to be on the phone. There was no dash camera video of the purported evasive driving but even from Davis's testimony it does not follow that Ms. McNaughton's driving was evasive. She pulled over once she saw blue lights. Maybe she did not do it perfectly, and accidentally struck the curb because it was dark outside and she was understandably nervous. However, it defies logic to purport that Ms.

McNaughton pulling into a parking lot at normal speed after seeing blue lights behind her was an evasive driving maneuver.

It seems apparent that here, as in *Frasier*, this was a drug stop masked as a traffic encounter. Early on it the stop you can see one of the four officers peering into Ms. McNaughton's truck. When he was unable to see anything in plain view as anticipated, officers asked for consent to enter her truck to find what they were already looking for. Officer Hammond and another officer searched the truck. Hammond's body-worn camera video begins as he is already rifling through Ms. McNaughton's purse. After locating an amount of suspected drugs Hammond says, "I knew it when I felt it . . . it ain't an eight ball but it's enough." Court's exhibit 1, Hammond BWC clip at 1:40.

The four officers of the drug task force did not have reasonable suspicion to prolong the traffic stop of Ms. McNaughton. Her brake light was out, and it should have been a simple stop and issue a ticket. Instead, Ms. McNaughton was removed from her vehicle and questioned about why she hit the curb and about whether she is currently dating Mr. Outen and then she is asked if they can enter her truck for a search based on nothing.

Officer Davis made much of Ms. McNaughton's nervous behavior calling it "a different nervous than a normal nervous for a traffic stop." R. 41, ll. 3-14. In the videos Ms. McNaughton appears startled and states she is nervous because of the blue lights and law enforcement. It is worth noting again that Ms. McNaughton was stopped by two unmarked cars and quickly surrounded by two other unmarked cars and four male officers. It is not unreasonable that she would be shaken up and nervous in this situation.

Officer Davis also stated that Ms. McNaughton's truck leaving a known drug house factored in his reasonable suspicion that criminal activity was afoot. However, the record does not

include any evidence that there was a search of that home revealing drugs. The record does not include any evidence that any drug transaction was witnessed during the surveillance of the home. The tip and the surveillance of the home do not create reasonable suspicion sufficient to prolong this stop for a minor traffic violation. Instead, the testimony reveals the officers true motivations that night which were to search for drugs in Ms. McNaughton's truck.

Here, as in *Frasier*, the search of Ms. McNaughton's car was based on nothing more than a hunch that something else was afoot. There was no testimony given or anything visible in the body-worn camera videos that demonstrated criminal activity. Ms. McNaughton was cooperative, stepping out of her vehicle and trying to find a card with her name on it as requested by Davis because she did not have her license. She spoke freely and politely with the two officers asking her questions, sometimes both at once.

Ms. McNaughton expressed confusion at the reason for the stop because she did not know that having the cab brake light out was a traffic violation. No further investigation was necessary by officers where it was clear the cab brake light was indeed not working on Ms. McNaughton's truck. There was no reason for the officers to search her truck in furtherance of the brake light investigation. Instead of writing her ticket where it was obvious the light was out Davis and the other officers unlawfully prolonged the stop and began another investigation citing no other reason than Ms. McNaughton's nervousness which under our case law is insufficient.

Whether a consent to search was voluntary or the product of duress or coercion, express or implied, is a question of fact to be determined from the "totality of the circumstances." The burden is on the State to show voluntariness. *Schneckloth v. Bustamonte*, 412 U.S. 218, 93 S.Ct. 2041, 36 L.Ed.2d 854 (1973); *State v. Middleton*, 266 S.C. 251, 222 S.E.2d 763 (1976); vacated on other grounds, 429 U.S. 807, 97 S.Ct. 44, 50 L.Ed.2d 69 (1976), reaffirmed 268 S.C. 152, 232 S.E.2d 342 (1977); *State v. Newman*, 261 S.C. 352, 200 S.E.2d 82 (1973), cert. den. 417 U.S. 932, 94 S.Ct. 2643, 41 L.Ed.2d 235. This "totality of the circumstances" test

applies whether the consent was given in a noncustodial situation, *Schneckloth v. Bustamonte*, *supra*, and *State v. Ellefson*, 266 S.C. 494, 224 S.E.2d 666 (1976), or in custodial situation, *United States v. Watson*, 423 U.S. 411, 96 S.Ct. 820, 46 L.Ed.2d 598 (1976).