RECEIVED

Jun 30 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LANCASTER COUNTY
Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-001041

The State,Respondent,

v.

Jennifer Blair McNaughton,.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 8729
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3727

RANDY E. NEWMAN, JR.
Solicitor, Sixth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 607
Lancaster, South Carolina 29721
(803) 416-9367

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial court properly denied Appellant's motion to suppress drug evidence discovered during the warrantless search of her truck at a lawful traffic stop because: (1) the initial detention continued only for the period necessary to complete the investigation and conduct the relevant inquiries incident to the stop; (2) even if the initial stop somehow extended into a second detention, the police developed reasonable suspicion of criminal activity to justify briefly extending the length of the traffic stop; and (3) Appellant freely and voluntarily consented to the search of her truck before the end of her constitutionally valid detention.

Appellant argues the trial court erred in denying her motion to suppress drug evidence found during the warrantless search of her truck. She contends the search violated the Fourth Amendment because: (1) no exceptions to the warrant requirement applied where the officers lacked reasonable suspicion to prolong the traffic stop for a minor traffic violation and (2) her consent to search was not voluntary where it was given when she was surrounded by four narcotics officers in the dark. (Brief of Appellant, p.8-p.14). The State disagrees and submits Appellant's argument is without merit.

First, the initial detention, which lasted until Appellant gave consent to search, was reasonable and did not constitute prolonging or extending the lawful traffic stop because it continued only for the period necessary to complete the investigation and conduct the relevant

inquiries incident to the stop. Second, even if the initial stop somehow extended into a second detention, it was objectively reasonable under the totality of the circumstances because the police had developed reasonable suspicion of criminal activity to justify briefly extending the length of the initial traffic stop. Third, under the totality of the circumstances, Appellant freely and voluntarily consented to the search of her truck where her express consent was not contested by contradictory testimony at the suppression hearing. Under the standard of review, the trial court's factual findings had ample evidentiary support in the record and its legal conclusions were not controlled by any errors of law. The trial court's decision to deny Appellant's motion to suppress and Appellant's resulting conviction should be affirmed, for all of the reasons discussed below.

A. Search and Seizure – Warrant Requirement

Both the United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution prohibit unreasonable searches and seizures. U.S. Const. amend. IV; S.C. Const. art. I, § 10. A search compromises the individual's interest in privacy; a seizure deprives the individual of dominion over his or her person or property. *State v. Brown*, 401 S.C. 82, 88, 736 S.E.2d 262, 266 (2012); *State v. Wright*, 391 S.C. 436, 442, 706 S.E.2d 324, 327 (2011) (quoting *Horton v. California*, 496 U.S. 128, 133 (1990)). A person has been seized within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment at the point in time when, in light of all the circumstances surrounding an incident, a reasonable person would have believed that he was not free to leave. *Frasier*, 437 S.C. at 634, 879 S.E.2d at 767 (quoting *Robinson v. State*, 407 S.C. 169, 181, 754 S.E.2d 862, 868 (2014)). For constitutional purposes, a search occurs when “an expectation of privacy that society is prepared to consider reasonable is infringed.” *United States v. Jacobsen*, 466 U.S. 109, 113 (1984).

Warrantless searches and seizures are unreasonable absent a recognized exception to the warrant requirement. *Brown*, 401 S.C. at 89, 736 S.E.2d at 266; *Wright*, 391 S.C. at 442, 706 S.E.2d at 327. *See Kentucky v. King*, 563 U.S. 452, 462 (2011) (“[W]arrantless searches are allowed when the circumstances make it reasonable . . . to dispense with the warrant requirement.”). These exceptions include the following: (1) search incident to a lawful arrest, (2) hot pursuit, (3) stop and frisk, (4) automobile exception, (5) the plain view doctrine, (6) consent, (7) abandonment, and (8) exigent circumstances. *Brown*, 401 S.C. at 89, 736 S.E.2d at 266; *State v. Dupree*, 319 S.C. 454, 456, 462 S.E.2d 279, 287 (1995); *State v. Moore*, 377 S.C. 299, 309, 659 S.E.2d 256, 261 (Ct. App. 2008); *see State v. Herring*, 387 S.C. 201, 209, 692 S.E.2d 490, 494 (2009) (“A fairly perceived need to act on the spot may justify entry and search under the exigent circumstances exception to the warrant requirement.”).

B. The Exclusionary Rule

The Fourth Amendment itself provides no remedy for a violation of the warrant requirement. *Davis v. United States*, 564 U.S. 229, 230-31 (2011). However, the United States Supreme Court has fashioned a judicially created remedy, the exclusionary rule, which is a deterrent sanction by which the prosecution is barred from introducing evidence obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment. *Id.* at 231-32; *Brown*, 401 S.C. at 88, 736 S.E.2d at 266. Generally speaking, any evidence seized as the result of an unreasonable search and seizure must be excluded from trial. *State v. Weaver*, 374 S.C. 313, 319, 649 S.E.2d 479, 482 (2007).

C. Lawful Traffic Stop – Not Prolonged

For Fourth Amendment purposes, a traffic stop of a vehicle, along with the detention of individuals during the stop, constitutes a seizure. *State v. Maybank*, 352 S.C. 310, 315, 573 S.E.2d 851, 854 (Ct. App. 2002). The reasonableness of a stop or detention “is measured in

objective terms by examining the totality of the circumstances.” *Ohio v. Robinette*, 519 U.S. 33, 39 (1996). While the relevant constitutional provisions require a stop to be reasonable under the circumstances, the initiation of an automobile stop is reasonable *per se* when either probable cause exists to believe a traffic violation has occurred *or* reasonable suspicion exists to believe the occupants of the vehicle are involved in criminal activity. *See Knight v. State*, 284 S.C. 138, 141, 325 S.E.2d 535, 537 (1985) (“[A] police officer may stop an automobile and briefly detain its occupants, even without probable cause to arrest, if he has a reasonable suspicion that the occupants are involved in criminal activity.”); *State v. Williams*, 351 S.C. 591, 598, 571 S.E.2d 703, 707 (Ct. App. 2002) (“Where probable cause exists to believe that a traffic violation has occurred, the decision to stop the automobile is reasonable *per se*.”); *see also Whren v. United States*, 517 U.S. 806, 810 (1996) (“An automobile stop is thus subject to the constitutional imperative that it not be ‘unreasonable’ under the circumstances. As a general matter, the decision to stop an automobile is reasonable where the police have probable cause to believe that a traffic violation has occurred.”).

Once an investigatory traffic stop is initiated, it must be temporary and last no longer than necessary to effectuate its purpose. *State v. Pichardo*, 367 S.C. 84, 98, 623 S.E.2d 840, 848 (Ct. App. 2005); *see Rodriguez v. United States*, 575 U.S. 348, 349 (2015) (“Authority for the seizure ends when tasks tied to the traffic infraction are—or reasonably should have been—completed.”); *see also United States v. Branch*, 537 F.3d 328, 336 (4th Cir. 2008) (“The maximum acceptable length of a routine traffic stop cannot be stated with mathematical precision. Instead, the appropriate constitutional inquiry is whether the detention lasted longer than was necessary, given its purpose.”). Typically, such a stop begins at the point an officer stops a vehicle to investigate the basis for the stop and continues for the period necessary to

complete the investigation *and* conduct the ordinary inquiries incident to any stop. *Arizona v. Johnson*, 555 U.S. 323, 333 (2009); *see Rodriguez*, 575 U.S. at 355 (“Beyond determining whether to issue a traffic ticket, an officer’s mission includes ordinary inquiries incident to the traffic stop. Typically such inquiries involve checking the driver’s license, determining whether there are outstanding warrants against the driver, and inspecting the automobile’s registration and proof of insurance. These checks serve the same objective as enforcement of the traffic code: ensuring that vehicles on the road are operated safely and responsibly.” (citations, internal quotations, and brackets omitted)).

As part of the permissible inquiries, an officer may order the driver and any passengers out of the vehicle pending completion of the stop and “may request a driver’s license and vehicle registration, run a computer check, and issue a citation.” *Pichardo*, 367 S.C. at 98, 623 S.E.2d at 847; *see Maryland v. Wilson*, 519 U.S. 408, 415 (1997) (“[A]n officer making a traffic stop may order passengers to get out of the car pending completion of the stop.”). A stop normally ends “when the police have no further need to control the scene and inform the driver and passengers they are free to leave.” *Johnson*, 555 U.S. at 333. An officer can inquire into matters unrelated to the initial justification for the stop without converting the stop into something other than a lawful seizure so long as the unrelated questioning does not measurably extend the stop’s duration. *Johnson*, 555 U.S. at 333; *see Rodriguez*, 575 U.S. at 355 (“An officer . . . may conduct certain unrelated checks during an otherwise lawful traffic stop.”); *see also Muehler v. Mena*, 544 U.S. 93, 100-101 (2005) (instructing additional questioning during a detention unrelated to the original purpose of the detention does not constitute an additional seizure or independent constitutional violation).

The videos from Davis’s and Lockhart’s body-worn cameras substantially overlap and show their interaction with Appellant from two different angles. They show that here, Davis—almost immediately after validly stopping Appellant for committing a traffic infraction he personally witnessed—discovered Appellant, who was the only person inside her vehicle, did not have a driver’s license—valid or otherwise—and, thus, could *not* lawfully operate her vehicle on a South Carolina roadway in any manner.⁶ See S.C. Code Ann. § 56-1-20 (2022) (“No person, except those expressly exempted in this article shall drive any motor vehicle upon a highway in this State unless such person has a valid motor vehicle driver’s license issued to him under the provisions of this article.”); S.C. Code Ann. § 56-1-190 (2022) (“A licensee shall have his license in his immediate possession at all times when operating a motor vehicle and shall display it upon demand of an officer . . .”). After learning Appellant did not have a driver’s license in her possession, Davis proceeded to question Appellant for a few minutes while *simultaneously* attempting to verify her identity before preparing a warning citation for the infraction he had observed. Less than four minutes after first stopping Appellant’s vehicle Davis explained the reason for the stop to Appellant (Lockhart BWC 3:27-3:37; Davis BWC 3:19-3:29) and within the next minute, after Davis and Lockhart explained the legal requirement that all brake lights on a vehicle must work (Lockhart BWC 3:37-4:01; Davis BWC 3:29-3:53), Davis asked for—and obtained—consent for a search (Lockhart BWC 4:01-4:30; Davis BWC 3:53-4:22), which meant the officer was able to obtain consent from Appellant during a period of time consistent with the

⁶ Although Appellant is not challenging the propriety of the stop on appeal, it was unquestionably proper in light of the fact it was only initiated after Davis saw Appellant commit a traffic infraction. See *State v. Nelson*, 336 S.C. 186, 193, 519 S.E.2d 786, 789 (1999) (“As a general matter, the decision to stop an automobile is reasonable where police have probable cause to believe that a traffic violation has occurred.”); see also S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-4450 (A) (2022) (“Every vehicle upon a street or highway within this State shall display lighted lamps and illuminating devices, excluding parking lights, from a half hour after sunset to a half hour before sunrise . . .”); S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-4730 (2) (2022) (“When a vehicle is equipped with a stop lamp or other signal lamps, such lamp or lamps shall at all times be maintained in good working condition.”).

time reasonably required to complete an ordinary and routine stop. *See State v. Provet*, 391 S.C. 494, 499, 706 S.E.2d 513, 516 (Ct. App. 2011) (finding a traffic stop was not unreasonably extended even if the officer’s questioning was unrelated to the purpose of the traffic stop where the entire stop lasted less than eleven minutes), *aff’d*, 405 S.C. 101, 747 S.E.2d 453 (2013); *see also United States v. Sharpe*, 470 U.S. 675, 683 (1985) (concluding a twenty-minute detention during an investigatory traffic stop was objectively reasonable); *United States v. Jeffus*, 22 F.3d 554, 557 (4th Cir. 1994) (finding a fifteen-minute traffic stop to be reasonable).

At the point in time he asked for consent, Davis had done nothing to unreasonably prolong the stop beyond the time necessary to complete its mission along with the ordinary inquiries that were permitted because any off-topic questioning he conducted was *simultaneous with* Lockhart asking dispatch to run a computer check and Davis’s preparation of the warning citation. *See Rodriguez*, 575 U.S. at 355 (recognizing a lawful stop does not become unlawful due to an officer asking inquiries unrelated to the stop’s purpose if those inquiries do not measurably extend the stop’s duration). Indeed, when consent was given, Davis had not yet retrieved his warning book or issued the citation. Moreover, as soon as he learned Appellant did not have a driver’s license towards the outset of the stop, Davis was aware of a crucial fact that prevented him from releasing Appellant—and, particularly, her vehicle—even *had* he finished preparing the warning citation, because Appellant simply could not lawfully drive her vehicle away from the scene due to her lack of a valid license. *See Kothe v. State*, 152 S.W.3d 54, 63-64 (Tex. Crim. App. 2004) (recognizing the initial purpose of a traffic stop is not fully resolved *until* the officer has checked the driver’s information *and* “knows that this driver has a currently valid license, no outstanding warrants, and the car is not stolen”); *see also United States v. Vargas*, 848 F.3d 971, 974 (11th Cir. 2017) (“The fact that [the officer] had earlier informed [the driver]

that he was issuing a warning is irrelevant. Under state law [the officer] had a duty not to allow [the driver] or Vargas, who were unlicensed, to drive the vehicle. Preventing them from driving off without a license is lawful enforcement of the law, not unlawful detention.”).

Furthermore, the body-worn camera videos seem to provide an additional reason the investigators could not lawfully allow Appellant to drive away—the driver’s license she did not physically possess but claimed to have, was suspended. As noted above, the videos from Davis and Lockhart show their interaction with Appellant from two different angles. Notably, in each video, you can hear portions of Lockhart’s radio conversation with “dispatch,” during which Lockhart seeks information about Appellant and her driver status based on running her full name and birthdate through the computer. (Lockhart BWC 2:29-2:51 & 4:53-5:10; Davis BWC 2:27-2:42 & 4:45-5:02). The search of Appellant’s truck and the discovery of the drugs occur sometime between the request for information and the response from dispatch—which means the ordinary inquiries associated with a traffic stop had not yet been resolved. In addition, although not entirely clear due to overtalk, after Lockhart says: “Go ahead,” the dispatcher seems to say: “Jennifer Blair McNaughton, 1xxx High Point Circle, Lancaster County, license would be, suspended disqualified, for a, a car accident” (Lockhart BWC 4:53-5:10 & Davis BWC 4:45-5:02). The fact that Appellant was driving with a suspended license—a fact that was not contested by Appellant at the suppression hearing (R.p.36, lines 10-24)—provides yet another reason the stop was not unreasonable or prolonged.

In her Brief, Appellant argues “everyone agreed the stop was prolonged.” (Brief of Appellant, p.9). But, the solicitor clearly argued at the suppression hearing that the stop “was not prolonged in any way.” (R.p.91). Based on all of these circumstances present here, it is abundantly clear that Investigator Davis did not unreasonably prolong the stop through his

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